17. 4 grander

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

CASE No. 74,086 TFB No. 87-25,512 (12B)

Petitioner,

v.

DONALD K. MCSHIRLEY,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_/

FEB SE 1990 C

CLERK, SUPPLEME COUNT

By Dopu's Clerk

# THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

DAVID R. RISTOFF Branch Staff Counsel The Florida Bar, Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821 (Attorney #358576)

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Pursuant to an investigation concerning respondent's failure to provide a Title Insurance Policy, The Florida Bar discovered that respondent had filed for Bankruptcy.

In January 1987, based upon respondent's filing for Bankruptcy, The Florida Bar initiated an audit of respondent's trust account records. In August 1988, a limited audit was completed by The Florida Bar.

The following was discovered during the audit, and admitted to by the respondent. (TR. p.4, line 6-21).

- 1. Several personal real estate transactions were handled through respondent's trust account.
- 2. Several dates reflect that the disbursements made to or on behalf of the respondent exceeded the amount of his personal funds commingled by him in the trust account, creating a deficit or negative balance.
- 3. In some instances, disbursements made to or on behalf of certain clients exceeded funds deposited into the trust account for such clients, creating negative balances for those clients.
- 4. The reconciliations reconstructed by The Florida Bar's Staff Auditor reflected shortages in May 1980 of \$1,066.87, which increased to \$10,634.63 by May 1982.
- 5. No records were available to reconstruct reconciliations for the period from June 1982 through July 1984.
- 6. Estimated reconciliations prepared for August 1984 through January 1986 reflect that shortages reached approximately \$27,000.00 for that same period.

During the course of The Florida Bar's investigation, and again at the Final Hearing, respondent admitted to converting approximately \$27,000.00 of his trust account funds for his own personal use, to help finance his law office, and to sponsor little league sports. (TR. p.4, line 23 and p.11, line 23-25, and p.12, line 1-4).

In approximately February 1986, respondent obtained a loan to reimburse the shortages in his trust account.

In addition to the admissions made by the respondent, the Referee found that based upon the testimony at the Final Hearing:

"That while respondent asserts that his trust account records were properly maintained or preserved until lost by a mover sometime between October 1986 to May 1987 that it is inconsistent with the fact that respondent deliberately misappropriated funds in a piecemeal fashion over a period of time from early 1984 through June 1986."

(RR, p.2, Paragraph 2).

The Referee found respondent guilty of the following violations:

Rule 5-1.1(b) (Rule 11.02(4)(b) before January 1, 1987) (failure to maintain the records or to produce them); Rule 5-1.2(b)(2)(Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)2.b. before January 1, 1987)(deposit slips required); Rule 5-1.2(b)(4)(Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)2.c. before January 1, 1987)(cancelled checks required); Rule 5-1.2(b)(5)(Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)2.e. before January 1, 1987)(cash receipts and

disbursements journal required); Rule 5-1.2(b)(6)(Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)2.f. before January 1, 1987)(ledger cards required); Rule 5-1.2(b)(7)(Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)2.g. before January 1, 1987) (bank statements required); Rule 5-1.2(c)(1), (2), and (3)(Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)3.a., b., and c. before January 1, 1987) (reconciliations, comparisons, and listings required); Rule 5-1.2(c)(4)(Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)3.d. before January 1, 1987) (evidence of compliance which requires the lawyer to authorize and request the bank to notify The Florida Bar in the event any trust check is returned due to insufficient or uncollected funds, absent bank error); Rule 4-1.15(Disciplinary Rule 9-102(A) before January 1, 1987) (commingling lawyer's funds with client's trust funds); DR 1-102(A)(3)(engaging in illegal conduct involving moral turpitude); DR 1-102(A)(4) (engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation); and DR 1-102(A)(6)(engaging in any other conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law) (RR p.2, Paragraph III).

The Referee recommended that respondent be disciplined by a three (3) year suspension from the practice of law, passage of the Ethics portion of The Florida Bar examination and payment of the costs of these disciplinary proceedings.

The Florida Bar Board of Governors, having reviewed the Report of Referee, voted to seek disbarment in this matter.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent intentionally misappropriated approximately \$27,000.00 from his trust account. (Tr. p.11, line 22-25, p.12, line 1-4). Although respondent was intentionally misappropriating trust account monies and knew that there were deficits in his trust account, respondent submitted certified statements to The Florida Bar indicating that his trust account records were in substantial compliance with the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar for the reporting years 1983, 1984, and 1985. (R-Bar Exhibit One (1), Tr. p.14).

Respondent converted approximately five (5) to six (6) thousand dollars which was used to sponsor a little league program. The balance of the misappropriated funds, approximately \$20,000.00, were used for personal or business purposes. (Tr. p.14, line 20-25).

Further, this was not a case of faulty bookkeeping.

This was an intentional misappropriation of trust account funds.

This was likewise not an isolated instance of dipping into the trust account. Respondent took the funds over a long period of time in a piecemeal fashion. (Tr. p.20, line 3).

The Referee recommends that respondent be disciplined by a three (3) year suspension from the practice of law,

passage of the Ethics portion of The Florida Bar examination and payment of the costs of these disciplinary proceedings.

Respondent has paid back the misappropriated funds and did so prior to The Florida Bar Audit. He cooperated with The Florida Bar after he became aware there was going to be an audit. However, the respondent's knowing, intentional and prolonged misappropriation of trust account funds, coupled with his knowing misrepresentation to The Florida Bar that his trust account records were in substantial compliance with the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, warrants disbarment.

Therefore, The Florida Bar requests that this Court disapprove the Referee's recommendation of a three (3) year suspension and its associated conditions, and enter an order disbarring the respondent from the practice of law in the State of Florida.

#### ARGUMENT

ISSUE: WHETHER A THREE (3) YEAR SUSPENSION, IS A SUFFICIENT DISCIPLINARY SANCTION FOR AN ATTORNEY WHO INTENTIONALLY AND KNOWINGLY MISAPPROPRIATES TRUST ACCOUNT MONIES OVER A PROLONGED PERIOD OF TIME.

Respondent admitted that he intentionally misappropriated trust account monies, (Tr. p.11, line 22-25, p.12, line 1-4), and that he did so knowingly over a period of time that extended from 1983 through approximately February of 1986. (Tr. p.11, line 17-22). The deficit in the trust account reached as high as \$27,000.00.

Additionally, when respondent submitted his annual Florida Bar Dues statement in 1983, 1984, and 1985, he misrepresented to The Florida Bar that his trust account records were in substantial compliance with the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, although he knew that his representations were false. (Tr. p.14, line 11-17).

There was no evidence to suggest any clients were harmed by respondent's misconduct. All trust monies which had been misappropriated were replaced prior to the time of the initiation of The Florida Bar audit.

Likewise, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Breed</u>, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1979), no client was injured by Breed's misappropriations. Breed used his trust account as one source to cover deficits created by a check kiting scheme in a non-client account. In recommending disbarment, the

Referee found that Breed had engaged in a check kiting scheme, had failed to keep adequate records or reconcile the escrow accounts, that he had commingled his funds with those of his clients, and that he had misused and misappropriated his clients' funds. The Supreme Court of Florida, on review, found that a two (2) year suspension with proper proof of rehabilitation before readmission was the appropriate discipline. This Court, however, gave notice to the legal profession that henceforth it would not be reluctant to disbar an attorney for this type of offense even where no client is injured. Id.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Baker</u>, 419 So.2d 1054 (Fla. 1982), this Court disbarred Baker from the practice of law. Baker had misappropriated approximately \$35,000.00 from an estate account to himself or his law firm. Baker reimbursed all of the client's monies that he had misappropriated. Disciplinary proceedings were also taken in New York against Baker. The State of New York suspended Baker for a period of two (2) years. However, this Court found that he should be disbarred for his misconduct.

Again, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Nagel</u>, 440 So.2d 1287 (Fla. 1983), this Court disbarred an attorney who converted client funds to his own personal use. Nagel, unlike the respondent herein, was also charged and pled guilty to criminal offenses. This Court again warned lawyers of the consequences of converting client funds to their own

personal use, stating: "Let every lawyer be ever alert not to succumb to the temptation that respondent did". Id.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Rodriguez</u>, 489 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1986), this Court disbarred Rodriguez despite his voluntary admission of using clients' money for personal uses.

Rodriguez's testimony was as follows:

I have used money previously, clients' money previously for living expenses. I have commingled their funds with mine, but I have paid these other people back. Record, page 21.

\* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \*

When I was short I would take money from a client for my own use, and then when I would make some money I would pay them.

Id. at 727.

The testimony of Rodriguez was strikingly similar to that of the respondent in the instant case.

Question by Staff Counsel: During that period did you ever have an occasion to take money from your trust account for other purposes? Answer by Respondent: Yes, I did. Q: Okay. And specifically, did you ever take money to fund your law office practice? A: Yes. And for personal expenses.

Q: Okay. And did you take funds to finance a little league team?
A: I took funds to support a little league program that I started in Sarasota County.

(Tr. p.11, line 22-25, and line 1-4).

And when asked about the extent of the misappropriations:

Question by Respondent's Counsel:
Were they large expenditures or -- or
was it piecemeal?
Answer: It was really piecemeal. At -at the end of a month, if I didn't have
enough to pay the bills and I knew it
was there, then I would go write a check
from trust to my general account and
pay the bills. Sometimes I would just
pay a bill directly from the trust account.

(Tr. p.20, line 1-7).

Respondent had converted approximately five (5) to six (6) thousand dollars from the trust account to fund little league, and approximately \$20,000.00 was converted for his personal or business use. (Tr. p.14, line 20-25).

While respondent was candid in admitting the misappropriation of trust monies to his own personal uses, the Referee found him to be less than credible on the issue of his trust account records being in substantial compliance with the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. (Tr. p.25, line 11-14).

The Referee found against the respondent and stated:

In addition, based upon the testimony presented at the Final Hearing the Referee finds that while respondent asserts that his trust account records were properly maintained or preserved until lost by a mover sometime between October 1986 to May 1987 it is inconsistent with the fact that respondent deliberately misappropriated funds in a piecemeal fashion over a period of time from early 1984 through January 1986. Respondent admitted at the Final Hearing that if he did not have enough money to pay the bills, that he

would write a check from his trust account to his general account and pay the bills. Respondent further testified that he would sometimes pay bills directly from the trust account. (Tr. Final Hearing p. 20, line 3-7). Therefore, respondent's assertion of maintaining accurate records, ie, maintaining reconciliations, is inconsistent with these misappropriations.

(RR, p.2).

The Referee recommended a three (3) year suspension, passage of the Ethics portion of The Florida Bar examination and payment of the costs of this disciplinary proceedings. However, the recommended discipline falls short of the appropriate sanction of disbarment. Section 4.11, Florida Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions states: "Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer intentionally or knowingly converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury". Aggravating and mitigating factors are generally appropriate in determining the sanction in a disciplinary case. However, in this case, respondent's conduct in knowingly and intentionally misappropriating trust account monies over a prolonged period of time in a piecemeal fashion warrants nothing less than disbarment. This is not the case of an errant lawyer who in an isolated instance misappropriated \$27,000.00. Respondent funded his law office, a little league program, and converted monies for his own personal use in a piecemeal fashion. Such

conduct cannot be mitigated to reduce this offense from disbarment.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Roman</u>, 526 So.2d 60 (Fla. 1988), Roman had misappropriated client funds and then committed fraud upon the courts to effectuate the theft. This Court in <u>Roman reiterated Breed</u> and stated:

That theft of client funds is one of the most serious offenses an attorney can commit. We warned the legal profession that henceforth we would not be reluctant to disbar an attorney for such misconduct. This case involves not only theft, but fraud on the court which strikes at the very heart of a lawyer's ethical responsibility. Either offense is sufficiently grave to justify disbarment. The mitigating factors in this case are insufficient to lesson the enormity of Roman's misconduct.

Id. at 62.

As in <u>Roman</u>, the mitigating factors in the instant case are insufficient to lessen the enormity of respondent's misconduct.

Accordingly, it is respectfully requested that the Referee's recommendation of a three (3) year suspension be disapproved, and that this Court enter an order of disbarment in this case.

#### CONCLUSION

The respondent knowingly and intentionally misappropriated trust account monies over a prolonged period of time in a piecemeal fashion. Respondent converted these funds to a little league program, and to his personal and business use. The respondent also misrepresented to The Florida Bar, when filing his Annual Dues Statements, that his trust account records were in substantial compliance with the minimum trust accounting regulations.

Respondents conduct is so egregious that it cannot be mitigated from disbarment. It is respectfully requested that the Referee's recommendation of a three (3) year suspension be disapproved, and that this Court enter an order disbarring respondent from the practice of law.