416

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

DONALD K. McSHIRLEY,

Respondent.

Case No.: 74,086
[TFB Case No.: 87-25,512(12B)]

CKEEL SUPREME COURT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Richard T. Earle, Jr., Esq. EARLE AND EARLE 150 Second Avenue North Suite 1220 St.Petersburg, Fl 33701 (813) 898-4474 Attorney for Respondent

#

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this case, the Referee found that the Respondent had no prior disciplinary record, was of good character or reputation, was remorseful for his conduct, timely made a good faith effort to make restitution prior to the initiation of the disciplinary proceedings, no client was damaged by his conduct, and Respondent had a cooperative attitude toward the disciplinary proceedings. The Respondent misappropriated \$27,000.00 of his clients' money and, in other ways, violated the Rules Regulating Trust Accounting. The Referee, after considering the mitigating factors set out, recommended that Respondent be suspended for three years and thereafter duly demonstrate his rehabilitation. It is the position of The Florida Bar that said sanction was not adequate. It is the position of the Respondent that the sanctions recommended are unduly harsh and punitive.

The purposes of disciplining lawyers for conduct violative of the Rules regulating them are to protect the Bench, The Bar, and the public, and to deter the guilty lawyer and all other lawyers from engaging in like misconduct. Sanctions are imposed not for the purpose of retribution or punishment, but solely for the purpose of carrying out the ultimate objectives of disciplining lawyers.

The Respondent, by his conduct and his attitude as found by the Referee as mitigating circumstances, has demonstrated that he is well on the road to rehabilitation, if he has not already arrived. The sanction of one-year's suspension would certainly deter the Respondent and all other lawyers from engaging in like misconduct. Disbarment, as sought by The Bar, and a three years suspension as recommended by the Referee are not necessarily to carry out the purposes of disciplining lawyers, and both are unduly harsh and punitive and are unfair to the Respondent.

### FIRST POINT INVOLVED

IS THREE YEARS SUSPENSION AN APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR A LAWYER WHO OVER A PERIOD OF SEVERAL YEARS MISAPPROPRIATED APPROXIMATELY \$27,000.00 OF HIS CLIENTS' MONEY FROM HIS TRUST ACCOUNT AND OTHERWISE VIOLATED THE RULES REGULATING TRUST ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES AND WHERE PRIOR TO ANY INVESTIGATION BY THE BAR THE LAWYER HAD RESTORED SAID FUNDS TO HIS TRUST ACCOUNT, NO CLIENT WAS EVER DAMAGED OR HARMED BY THE MISAPPROPRIATION, THE LAWYER HAD NO PRIOR DISCIPLINARY RECORD, ENJOYED A GOOD REPUTATION, WAS REMORSEFUL AND COOPERATED WITH THE BAR IN THE DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING?

#### **ARGUMENT**

Both The Bar and the Respondent contend that the sanctions recommended are not appropriate. The Bar contends that disbarment is the only appropriate sanction, while Respondent contends that suspension for a period of one year is adequate to carry out the purposes of the disciplinary procedures.

It has always been the philosophy of this Court that the purposes of disciplinary proceedings are to protect the Bench, The Bar and the public from the conduct of lawyers violating the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. Sanctions are not imposed by the Court on lawyers for the purpose of punishment, but said sanctions should be harsh enough to deter the guilty lawyer and all other lawyers from engaging in similar misconduct.

One of the leading cases demonstrating this philosophy of the Court is <u>The Florida Bar v. Pahules</u>, 233 So.2d 130 (Fla.1970). In <u>Pahules</u>, the Referee recommended disbarment for, among other

things, commingling and using over \$14,000.00 of his clients' money by failing to properly account for the same or depositing it in a Trust account but instead commingled said money with his own and used it for his own purposes. In its Opinion, the Court stated:

"In the present case, commingling of funds and embezzlement of client funds is a very serious offense. Its seriousness is not lessened by the fact that the lawyer involved made restitution before disciplinary action was initiated. Such restitution, along with other factors reflecting on respondent's character, properly may be examined for value in mitigation of the severity of penalty, but cannot erase the stain of unethical conduct."

The Court then went on to state:

"In cases such as these, three purposes kept in mind in reaching conclusions. First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in term of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as а result of harshness in imposing penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations."

In <u>Pahules</u>, the Court reversed the Referee and suspended Pahules from the practice of law for a period of six months.

(<u>The Florida Bar v. Pahules</u>, 233 So.2d 130 (Fla.1970).

The same long-standing philosophy of the Court was well recognized by the drafters of the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. Section 3.0 of the Standards provides:

"Generally in imposing a sanction after a finding of lawyer misconduct, the Court should consider the following factors:

- (a) The duty violated;
- (b) The lawyer's mental state;
- (c) The potential or actual injury caused by the lawyer's misconduct; and
- (d) The existence of aggravating or mitigating circumstances.

Each section of the Standards setting forth particular sanctions to be imposed because of commission of specific acts of misconduct start out with the words "absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, and upon application of the factors set out in Standard 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases...." Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Section 5.1, 5.2, 6.1, 6.2, 6.3, 7.0, 8.0.

# Section 9.31 of said Standards provides:

"Mitigation or mitigating circumstances are any considerations or factors that may justify a reduction in the degree of discipline to be imposed."

# 9.32 of the Standards provides:

- "9.32 Factors which may be considered in mitigation. Mitigating factors include:
- (a) absence of a prior disciplinary
  record;
- (b) absence of a dishonest or selfish
  motive;
  - (c) personal or emotional problems;
- (d) Timely good faith effort to make restitution or to rectify consequences of misconduct."

Recently, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Eisenberg</u>, 555 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1989), this Court again considered the role of mitigating circumstances in imposing sanctions. In that case, The Florida Bar took the position before this Court:

"that mitigating evidence is not relevant in a disciplinary proceeding, asserting that it should be considered only when an attorney applies for reinstatement."

In <u>Eisenberg</u>, this Court reasserted the policy which it had long followed and reasserted the policy set out in The Florida Standards

For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions in the following language:

"We agree with Eisenberg's position that consideration of mitigating evidence is appropriate at the sanction stage of a disciplinary proceeding and that consideration of this evidence is clearly in accordance with the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions."

The Opinion in <u>Eisenberg</u> was rendered on December 21, 1990 and rehearing was denied on February 14, 1990. It will be noted that The Bar's Brief in this case was served on February 23, 1990, subsequent to the denial of rehearing in <u>Eisenberg</u>.

(The Florida Bar v. Eisenberg, 555 So.2d 353 (Fla.1990).

The position of The Bar in this case is well stated in its Summary of Argument on page 5 of its Brief as follows:

"Respondent has paid back the misappropriated funds and did so prior to The Florida Bar Audit. He cooperated with The Florida Bar after he became aware there was going to be an audit. However, the respondent's knowing, intentional prolonged misappropriation of trust account funds, coupled with his knowing misrepresentation to The Florida Bar that his trust account records were in substantial compliance with the Rules Regulating The

# Florida Bar, warrants disbarment."

The Bar's statement of the Issue involved likewise well sets out its position in this case as follows:

"Whether a three (3) year suspension is a sufficient disciplinary sanction for an attorney who intentionally and knowingly misappropriates trust account monies over a prolonged period of time."

The purpose of the Statement of Facts in an appellate brief is to acquaint the Appellate Court with all facts that are in any way relevant to the issue or issues before the Court on the appeal. It is incumbent upon counsel in so stating the facts to state all of them that are material, whether they are detrimental or beneficial to the position of the client. The Bar, in its Statement of the Facts, has largely ignored all of the facts found by the Referee which the Referee believed should be considered in mitigation of the offense in imposing sanctions on the lawyer, and has omitted any discussion thereof in the issue involved and in its The attempted effect of these omissions is to present this case before this Court without consideration of most of the mitigating factors and thereby to completely distort this case and the Referee's Report. In brief, The Bar has presented this case to this Court just as though there were practically no mitigating factors.

So there will be no misunderstanding, Respondent's counsel is not charging that The Bar is in any way attempting to mislead this

Court. Such an attempt would be futile because the Court will find the mitigating factors in the Referee's Report and Bar counsel knew full well that the undersigned would carefully point them out to this Court. However, the omission of these mitigating factors is an attempt by Bar counsel to induce this Court to change its philosophy relative to sanctions by not considering mitigating factors in imposing sanctions but to consider them only when the lawyer seeks reinstatement, just as The Bar attempted to do in Eisenberg, Supra.

The main thrust of Respondent's Brief is to point out to this Court the mitigating factors as found by the Referee and to point out the basic purpose of lawyer discipline, so that the Court will give due consideration to the mitigating factors as found by the Referee.

As a result of the foregoing, the Brief written by Bar counsel is totally unrelated to the basic issue involved in this case which, simply stated, is whether in light of the nature of the offense and the mitigating circumstances the recommendation of the Referee should be affirmed or reversed.

The Bar cites <u>The Florida Bar v. Breed</u>, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1979). In said case, this Court gave notice to the legal profession that henceforth it would not be reluctant to disbar an attorney for misappropriating trust account funds, even where no client is injured. However, neither in <u>Breed</u>, nor in any case following <u>Breed</u>, has this Court held that in imposing sanctions for said offense the Referee and, ultimately this Court, should not

consider mitigating circumstances.

Shortly after Breed, the Court decided the case of The Florida Bar v. Welty, 382 So.2d 1220 (Fla. 1980). case, Welty, over a period of time, commingled his funds with his clients' trust accounts and used \$24,848.11 of said funds for his own purposes and he closed a real estate transaction in 1978 receiving \$15,000.00 in funds in trust for a client which he failed to promptly disburse because he used a portion thereof for personal expenses and to make up deficits in his trust account. Welty, like the Respondent here, restored the misappropriated money to his trust account, cooperating with The Bar in making its audit. Referee recommended that Welty be suspended for a period of six months and until he proved his rehabilitation and that he be placed on probation for a period of two years. The Florida Bar sought review of the Referee's Report on the basis that the sanctions recommended were inadequate. In its Opinion, this Court, after reviewing numerous cases, concluded that under the particular circumstances of that case the recommendations of the Referee should be approved.

In 1987, this Court considered <u>The Florida Bar v. Lumley</u>, 517 So.2d 13 (Fla.1987). In that case, Lumley deposited personal funds in the same account with funds held in trust for clients and used funds held in trust for clients for purposes other than those intended by the clients and the commingling of said funds resulted in deficits to the clients' funds. In its Opinion, the Court stated:

"The Referee found that there was no intent on the part of respondent to defraud or deprive his clients of their property. The evidence showed that, although at times there were deficits in the accounts of money held in trust, respondent in every case restored the balance in the account in time to meet his obligations to his clients. No client suffered any loss or delay in the disbursement of funds.

Although the Referee found no intent to deprive the clients of their money, the existence of the account "deficits" shown by the evidence established that respondent did use, albeit temporarily, trust funds personal purposes. There is nothing in the evidence or in the referee's report to refute the inference that such improper personal use of trust funds was committed knowingly. We therefore find that the evidence and the referee's findings implicitly show that respondent knowingly used entrusted funds for his own purposes. (Emphasis supplied)

The Referee recommended that Lumley receive a private reprimand. This Court held that a private reprimand was not appropriate and, instead, the Court gave Lumley a public reprimand.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Moxley</u>, 462 So.2d 814 (Fla.1985), this Court again considered the appropriate discipline for misappropriating clients' funds. Moxley, while practicing law, engaged in a private business not connected therewith. He used a single checking account for both his client trust fund and the separate business venture, and on occasion he advanced funds from this account to other accounts both for the business and for his law practice before receiving deposits for these expenditures. In its Opinion, the Court, among other things, stated:

"Rule 11.02(4) commences: 'Money or other property entrusted to an attorney for a specific purpose, including advances for costs and expenses, is held in trust and must be applied only to that purpose.' We take a grim view of attorneys who fail to keep sacrosanct and inviolate their trust funds as required under this rule. Recognizing this, Florida Bar suggests that the minimum penalty should be a six-month suspension with proof of the rehabilitation. The referee, on the other hand, recommended a public reprimand plus a three-year probation with certain conditions. Moxley agrees with the Referee."

The Court then went on to state:

"We give a great deal of weight to the referee in cases such as this. Here, the

Referee is an experienced, considerate, and thoughtful judge. To us, however, this case more appropriately falls somewhere above the situation which existed in Horner, somewhere below that in Welty. In disciplinary cases it is important to look at the offense and the circumstances surrounding it. But it also is important to consider the effect of the dereliction of duty on others as well as the character of the wrongdoer and the likelihood of further disciplinary violations. therefore believe some suspension appropriate. We do this not so much in retribution against Moxley as to clearly admonish the bar regarding the necessity to follow faithfully rule 11.02(4) disciplinary rule 1-102."

After considering all of the factors above quoted, the Court determined that Moxley should be suspended for sixty days and placed on probation for three years.

The policy of this Court in giving consideration to mitigating factors in imposing sanctions is based on two different concepts. A lawyer who makes restitution without any coercive pressure from The Florida Bar or law enforcement officials, has had no prior disciplinary record, has enjoyed a good reputation, is remorseful over his conduct and cooperates with The Bar in the disciplinary

proceeding, has, by his conduct, demonstrated several things. He has recognized that he is guilty of an act of misconduct, has taken appropriate steps to rectify any injuries caused thereby, regrets his derelictions, and is ready and willing to accept his deserved sanctions. All of these positive actions taken by the lawyer demonstrate that he is well on the road to rehabilitation, and may be that he has obtained this goal. The fact that he has no prior disciplinary record and enjoys a good reputation in his community, is an indication that there is a likelihood that he has been rehabilitated or that his rehabilitation will successfully continue. These mitigating circumstances, when coupled with an adequate sanction for the misconduct, leads to the belief that the lawyer will become rehabilitated, if he hasn't already done so.

The Court should encourage lawyers to recognize the error of their ways, correct the same, and rehabilitate themselves voluntarily. This can be accomplished partially by reducing the sanctions imposed upon lawyers doing so. Stated another way, in seeking the ultimate sanction of disbarment demanded by The Bar in this case, can only discourage lawyers from so attempting to rehabilitate themselves.

Respondent submits that if the purpose of discipline is as heretofore stated by the Court and is not to punish but to deter, a suspension of one year, coupled with the attitude of the Respondent as reflected in the Referee's Report, will serve all of the purposes of discipline adequately. Any more severe discipline not only will not carry out the purposes of the disciplinary rules,

but to some degree, might help defeat them.

### CONCLUSION

Under the particular circumstances of this case where the Referee found all of the mitigating factors set out in the Referee's Report, a suspension of not more than one year will carry out all of the purposes of the disciplinary rules in that it will fully protect the Bench, The Bar, and the public. It will be fair to the Respondent, and last, it certainly should deter Respondent and all other lawyers from engaging in similar misconduct and it might well encourage lawyers who are guilty of derelictions to rectify their conduct and comply with the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.